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Rock Spring Fann is located on the south side of Loudoun Street, to the west of the central core of the 
town of Leesburg. The property, denoted as 329 Loudoun Street, S. W., presently encompasses five-and-a­
half acres of land. It is improved by an imposing circa 1826 main dwelling with contemporaneous 
southeast wing, in addition to a masonry springhouse, smokehouse, barn, dairy, silo, stable, and tractor 
shed. Rock Spring Fann was the site of a tributary of the Town Spring, the primary water source for the 
town of Leesburg from its platting in 1757 until 1978. As a result of this spring, a pond is located to the 
immediate northeast of the main dwelling. 

The two-and-a-half-story main dwelling at Rock Spring Fann, completed by 1826 as indicated by deeds 
and tax assessments, originally presented a halUparlor plan augmented by a one-room wing on the 
southeast elevation. The building as constructed presented the ornamentation and form associated with 
the Federal style of architecture. Additionally, the property consisted of a freestanding kitchen with meat 
house. Just after the turn of the 20th century, the building was enlarged by the construction of a flanking 
wing to the northwest, thereby providing the now-symmetrical fa~ade with a five-part Palladian plan. 
Subsequent additions that give the building a U-shaped plan include a two-story rear ell on the main block 
(projecting from the hall), a one-story addition on the circa 1906 wing, and the subsequent joining of the 
dwelling with the original kitchen by a hyphen in 1980. This brick kitchen is contemporaneous to the 
main block of the dwelling, and includes a one-story meat house on the northwest elevation. The building 
was stylistically embellished at the turn of the 20th century with Colonial Revival details. 

The main block of the Federal-style dwelling is two-and-a-half stories in height, flanked by two-story 
wings. This early-19th-century structure is brick, laid in five-course American bond. Contemporaneous to 
the main block, the southeastern wing is also built of five-course American bond brick. The northwestern 
wing, dating from around 1906, is constructed of brick, laid in six-course American bond. The side gable 
roof, clad with standing-seam metal, is finished with a wooden, boxed cornice, ogee bed molding, and 
returns. Several imposing interior-end brick chimneys pierce the roof from the main block, kitchen, rear 
ell, and 1906 wing. Two front gable dormers each hold 2/2 double-hung, wood sash windows. A one­
story porch runs the full width of the building, sheltering the first story of the main block and both wings. 
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EXTERIOR 

Rectangular in form, the main block of Rock Spring Farm measures four bays in width and two bays in 
depth. The fac;ade, facing northeast, is symmetrically pierced on the first story with French windows and a 
wide main entry. The entry is placed off-center, denoting the hall/parlor plan of the main block. Capped 
by a brick jack arch, the opening holds a large six-paneled wood door that is slightly heavier in appearance 
than the finely detailed sidelights and fanlight, resulting in a subtle contrast. Flanking sidelights consist of 
two panels set below lozenge-shaped lights, while the segmentally shaped fanlight has a delicate sunburst 
motif. Elegant French doors with four lights in each leaf sit within the slightly recessed first-story 
window openings. A single set of French doors, directly to the north of the main entry, has been replaced 
with stained-glass lights. The window openings are topped with two courses of soldier bricks that act as 
the lintels. All of the first-story openings are set deeply within the brick structure, and framed with large 
beaded surrounds, wood sills, and louvered shutters. The second story of the main block is similarly 
fenestrated with four standard-sized window openings, each holding a 6/6 double-hung, wood sash 
window. Each of the openings has beaded surrounds, soldier-course brick lintels, and louvered shutters. 
Two front gable dormers hold 2/2 double-hung, wood sash windows framed with narrow Tuscan pilasters 
and cornice returns that create an open tympanum. The dormers are clad in wood shingles and have slate 
tile roofing. 

Extending the full width of the main block and wings, the porch measures eight bays in width to shelter 
the first story of the main block and flanking wings. It is set upon brick piers with wood lattice between. 
Constructed of wood frame, the one-story porch consists of thin Tuscan columns, square balusters, and a 
boxed cornice. The half-hipped roof of the porch is clad with standing-seam metal. The porch is 
accessible from the sides via wood stairs. 

The flanking two-story wings, despite dating from two different construction phases, are identically 
fenestrated. Each is pierced on the first story by two symmetrically placed French windows, with four 
lights in each leaf. Like the openings in the main block, those of the wings are finished with large interior 
beads, wood sills, lintels made up of one course of soldier bricks, and louvered shutters. Second-story 
openings are placed just above the half-hipped roof of the porch. These shortened openings hold six-light 
wood casement windows with interior beads, wood sills, and louvered shutters. Also similar to the main 
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block, the wings have front gable donners with wood shingle cladding. The dormers, covered by 
standing-seam metal roofs, hold six-light wood windows that appear to be fixed. In 1980, a two-story 
hyphen was constructed on the southeast side of the original circa 1826 wing, connecting the dwelling to 
the freestanding kitchen. This modern addition, used as a kitchen, is pierced on the frrst story by a single 
6/6 double-hung, wood sash window with interior beading and louvered shutters. The second story holds 
two similar 6/6 double-hung, wood sash windows. A glass greenhouse is located on the southeastern end 
of the new kitchen addition. 

Smail 2/2 double-hung, wood sash windows pierce the gable ends of the southeast and northwest 
elevations of the main block. The wings obscure the remainder of the side elevations of the main block. 
The northwest elevation of the circa 1906 wing is three bays wide, symmetrically pierced by standard­
sized windows. Each of the openings holds a 2/2 double-hung, wood sash window with louvered shutters. 
A single 2/2 double-hung, wood sash window opening pierces the second story of the west elevation of 
the wing. 

A wood frame addition, constructed in 1980, was built at the conjoins of the circa 1906 wing, the two­
story rear ell, and the main block. This two-story addition is clad with weatherboard siding and has a 
sloped roof clad in standing seam metal. It has a canted oriel window with three fixed lights and a half­
hipped asphalt shingle roof on the frrst story. At the second story, there is a small two-light sliding 
window. 

The rear ell, set at the western end of the main block, is two stories in height and constructed of brick laid 
in seven-course American bond. Covered by a gable roof that intersects the roof of the main block, the 
rectangular-shaped ell is two bays wide and two bays deep. Beyond the wood frame addition, the 
northwest elevation of the ell has an elongated window opening that originally was an entry opening 
holding a single-leaf door. It now holds a 2/2 double-hung, wood sash window. The second story has a 
single 2/2 double-hung, wood sash window with louvered shutters. Similarly, the southwest elevation of 
the ell has two 2/2 double-hung, wood sash windows in the second story. The southeast side has a 2/2 
double-hung, wood sash window and a single-leaf entry door of wood panels on the first story and two 
symmetrically placed 2/2 double-hung, wood sash windows on the second story. • 
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The southwest elevation of the main block is visible only in part on the first story because of the many 
rear additions. This story, pierced by three openings, encompasses the original parlor of the main block 
and the contemporaneous southeastern wing. Two openings of the main block hold 6/6 replacement 
double-hung, wood sash windows, while the single opening in the wing has a French window with four 
lights per leaf. A sleeping porch dominates the second story of the main block, abutting the tum-of-the-
20th -century ell. This wood frame porch has subsequently been enclosed for use as a bedroom. It is clad 
with vertical boards and rows of metal double-hung windows, and has an asphalt shingle shed roof. 
Supporting the sleeping porch while sheltering the first story of the wing is the shed-roof porch. Tuscan 
posts similar to those found on the full-width porch sheltering the fa~de support this rear porch. 

A deep shed-roofed addition stretches from the cornice line of the main roof to the first story of the 
kitchen. This extension is contemporaneous, in part. to the kitchen. It is constructed of wood frame with 
hand-hewn beams. Used to store meats, the extemion has a single window opening on the southwest 
elevation. The two-story brick kitchen is located at the southern corner of the building. Covered by a 
shallow-pitched side gable roof, the kitchen has a one-story addition with a screened porch on the 
southwest side. On the northwest side, the second story of the kitchen holds a 6/6 replacement double­
hung, wood sash window. The wood frame porch an the southwest elevation has a half-hipped asphalt 
shingle roof. A single entry provides access to the interior of the kitchen through a replacement aluminum 
door with six-panels. Over the screened porch is a modern two-light sliding window. The southeast 
elevation of the kitchen has two 6/6 double-hung, wood sash window openings on the first story. A 
standard-sized 6/6 double-hung, wood sash window and a narrow 4/4 doubie-hung, wood sash window 
asymmetrically pierce the second story of this wall Located over the modern greenhouse of metal and 
glass (1980) on the northeast elevation of the kitchen is a 6/6 double-hung, wood sash window. The 
greenhouse is set on the intersection of the 1980 addition of the southeastern wing and the original brick 
kitchen. Access to the building is found through a modern six-paneled wood door. Over the greenhouse, 
two 6/6 double-hung, wood sash windows mark the second story of the 1980 addition. The gable end of 
this modern brick addition is pierced with recessed bricks to create a diamond-shaped ventilator for the 
attic. 
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INTERIOR 

Architectural detailing in the original portions of the building, consisting of the main block and the 
southeast wing on the first and second floors, is Federal in style. This detailing is reflected on the eight­
inch-high baseboards, the square-edged casings with molded back bands, and the molded chair boards. 
These rooms have replacement six-inch-wide wood floorboards laid over the original flooring and plaster 
ceilings that have been replaced with drywall in part because of water damage. 

The hall/parlor plan indicative of the Federal style features symmetrically placed entry doors at the front 
and rear of the hall, although the rear entry now accesses the circa 1906 ell. Each of these openings holds 
a massive six-paneled wood door completed by a large brass lock box. Access to the second floor was 
originally provided via a straight-flight stair in the western comer of the hall, to the northwest of the rear 
entry. The original stair was removed in 1980 and a grander half-geometrical stair was installed.1 This 
modem freestanding stair has a circle-end starter step, two molded parallel rails with volutes, and one thin 
balustrade per tread. The hall was heated by an exterior-end chimney that was removed from the interior 
of the building when the circa 1906 northwest wing was constructed. The shaft of the chimney is extant 
on the exterior of the building. 

The parlor, located to the southeast of the hall, retains its original Federal-style mantel. Set upon a 
projecting chimney breast, the mantel is about five feet tall with deeply fluted Tuscan pilasters, base 
blocks, and an intricately molded, projecting shelf. Now pierced with recessed lighting, the ceiling is 
edged by an egg-and-dart, ogee crown molding. Replacement baseboards measure five inches high with 
rounded cap and quadrant bead base. The chair rail, dating to the period of construction, is set low, due to 
the several layers of flooring. 

The southeast wing, serving now as a dining room, is rectangular in form. The projecting chimney breast 
on the northwest wall dominates the space. The mantel was removed and the opening infilled in the 
1970s. Replacement floorboards measure four inches wide and were laid over the original floorboards 
with a replacement beaded baseboard. The casings are narrower that those found in the hall and parlor, 
although the back banding is similar. A multi-beaded plate rack encircles the room. To the northeast of 
the chimney breast is a china cabinet with a paneled and diamond-pane glass door. 
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The circa 1906 wing is similarly detailed with four-inch-wide wood floor boards, eight-inch-high 
baseboards with molded caps, plaster applied to six-course American-bond brick walls, ogee crown 
molding with <lentils, and a drywall ceiling with recessed lighting. The window openings have square­
edged casings with back banding and interior beading. A projecting chimney breast on the northwest wall 
has a five-foot high Federal-style mantel with back banding surrounding the opening. It has a thin 
projecting shelf that is molded. Floor-to-ceiling bookshelves finish the southwest and southeast walls of 
the room. 

The single room in the rear ell, a second-quarter-of-the-20th·century addition, is also similarly finished. 
This space has four-inch-wide wood floorboards and eight-inch-high baseboards with molded caps. 
Plaster has been applied to seven-course American-bond brick walls and a drywall ceiling with recessed 
lighting added. Each window opening is finished with square-edged casings consisting of back banding 
and interior beading. Set upon a projecting chimney breast with a slate hearth, the mantel is about five­
feet-tall with deeply fluted Tuscan pilasters, base blocks, and an intricately molded, projecting shelf. A 
full bath has been added within a two-story wood frame addition located on the northwest wall of the ell. 

The kitchen is located in the southeastern portion of the dwelling, a result of extensive renovations in 
1980. This addition connected the main block of the dwelling, by way of the southeast wing, to the 
original freestanding kitchen. The connection of the two structures in 1980 allowed for the gable end of 
the original kitchen to be visible on the interior of the new kitchen. Constructed of brick laid in five­
course American bond, the original kitchen structure is two stories in height with a one-story meat storage 
room on the northwest elevation. The interior of the original kitchen has been extensively altered to serve 
as a family room with a modem stair and half-bath. Set lower than the main dwelling because of the slope 
of the site, this space has eight-inch-wide floorboards with a modem wood baseboard. The massive 
chimney breast is located at the center of the southeast elevations and retains its original crane to hold pots 
cooking over the fire. A straight-flight stair was added to the western corner of the kitchen and a half-bath 
was constructed in the southern corner. The modem kitchen has a brick floor, laid in a herringbone 
pattern. The ceiling has exposed beams and beaded boards. A metal-and-glass greenhouse was 
constructed at the eastern comer of the new kitchen in 1980. A wooden spiral stair was added along tlie 
northwest wall, providing access to the basement. 
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The one-room basement is located directly under the southeast wing of the building. This space has a 
flagstone floor, five-course American-bond brick walls, and exposed pit-sawn beams. A low brick wall 
capped with slate edges the room. The ceiling exposes some of the original flooring, with boards 
measuring from six inches to eighteen inches in width. A segmental relieving arch is set on the northwest 
wall, directly below the large chimney that once heated the southeast wing. To the west of the relieving 
arch is a small opening covered with plywood that leads to the crawl space under the main block of the 
house. 

Detailing on the second floor of the dwelling is similarly finished with square-edged casings and back 
banding, four- to six-inch floorboards, and plaster walls. Three mantels on this upper story are reflective 
of the circa 1906 renovations and present more Victorian-era motifs. Two of the mantels have fluted 
Tuscan pilasters, while a third has unadorned Tuscan columns. The second floor has four bedrooms with 
modem baths. Two additional rooms are found over the original brick kitchen, although there is no longer 
access from the second floor of the main block. This area is accessed via a straight-flight stair at the west 
comer of the original kitchen. 

OUTBUILDINGS 

Seven outbuildings are presently associated with Rock Spring Farm. Since their construction, the 
functions of many of these buildings and structures have changed. The outbuildings include a springhouse 
that is located at the northern end of the property along Loudoun Street. Other dependencies, which are 
located to the southwest of the dwelling, include a smokehouse, barn, dairy, silo, tractor shed and stable. 
The dairy was rehabilitated to serve as a carriage house and then as a single-family dwelling (renovated in 
1980s) and is leased by the current property owners. Additionally, the smokehouse is currently used as an 
art studio. 

The early- l 91h·century springhouse is located immediately adjacent to Loudoun Street, set to the west of 
the main dwelling. This one-story structure is constructed of masonry parged with concrete. A lo_w 
masonry wall surrounds the site. A hipped roof with asphalt shingles and exposed rafter ends covers the 
rectangular structure. This multi-purpose structure, also serving as a milk house, has a wood ventilator on 
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the roof. This ventilator has a hipped roof of sheet metal, exposed rafter ends, and wooden louvers. A 
single opening, now holding a flush replacement door, is found on the southeast elevation. 

The mid-191h -century smokehouse is two stories in height. It is set upon a low parged foundation of 
masonry and has German siding accented by corner boards. A monitor that provides clerestory lighting 
from all four sides heightens the standing-seam metal gable roof. The southeast elevation has two 
openings, a double-leaf and single-leaf entry. Each opening holds a vertical-board door of wood. On the 
second story are two standard 6/6 double-hung, wood sash windows. Smaller openings pierce the 
building and feature one-light awning (aluminum), four-light casement (wood), and large modern fixed­
light windows. A single entry to the second story is fOIDld on the northwest elevation and is accessed by 
an exterior straight-flight stair. 

The circa 1880 barn, renovated in the 1980s, is one-and-a-half stories in height with a gable roof. The 
structure is three bays deep with standard-sized 6/6 double-hung, wood sash window openings marking 
the bays. The standing-seam metal roof is edged by a boxed cornice and pierced at the center by a 
louvered wood ventilator. Constructed of wood frame, the barn is clad with vertical boards. On the 
northeast elevation, 6/6 double-hung, wood sash windows flank the centrally placed single entry. In the 
gable end above the entry is a 6/6 double-hung, wood sash window. 

The late-19th -century dairy, which had been converted into a carriage house, was rehabilitated again in the 
1980s to function as a single-family dwelling. Used as rental property, the building is accessed from 
Valley View Avenue with an address of 380 Loudoun Street, SW. The wood frame building is covered by 
a cross gable roof clad in standing-seam metal. The walls are finished with German siding and are 
accented by fish-scale wood shingles in the gables. The square building is three bays deep and four bays 
wide. A massive exterior-end brick chimney is located on the southwest elevation. The two-story wood 
porch that runs the full width of this elevation largely obscures the buff-colored brick chimney. The porch 
is supported by Tuscan posts and has a balustraded flat roof. The first story of the building has 1/1-
replacement double-hung, wood sash windows, while those in the gable ends are 6/6 double-hung, wood 
sash windows with a semi-circular form. 
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The circa 1930 silo abuts the barn to the west. This tall structure is constructed of pre-cast concrete and 
has a conical roof of standing-seam metal. It is held together with adjustable steel hoops, spaced about 
fifteen inches apart. 

The rectangular tractor shed is located_ south of the main dwelling. This structure, dating from the second 
quarter of the 20th century, is two stories in height with a shed roof. It is constructed of wood frame with 
vertical-board siding. The first story of the northeast elevation is open, providing five divided bays for 
equipment storage. Rectangular openings with no windows mark the second story. At the northwest end 
of the building is the stair tower, rising above the roof of the shed. This addition has a shed roof, exposed 
rafter ends, and tightly sheathed vertical boards. A six-panel door, a four-light transom, and a 6/6 double­
hung, wood sash window pierce it. 

The mid-20th -century stable is set further south of the tractor shed. This building is one story in height 
with a standing-seam metal gable roof. It is constructed of concrete blocks with a double-pen plan that is 
open on the southeast elevation. 

End Notes 

1 The present owner, under whose direction the alteration was conducted, provided the location and type of stair historically 
located in the hall. No physical evidence was noted to indicate the original location, or even the existence of the straight-flight 
stair. The construction materials of the half-geometrical stair indicate it was modem construction. 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Rock Spring Farm at 329 Loudoun Street, S. W. is representative of the development taking place 
on the outskirts of the urban town of Leesburg in the early part of the l 9tl! century. The property 
historically associated with Rock Spring Farm was subdivided in response to the flourishing 
development of Leesburg, which had been expanded a number of times outside of the original 
platted boundaries. More than one hundred acres were eventually reunited by under a single 
owner desiring to create a larger setting in which to place the imposing brick dwelling, which 
was completed by 1826. The property, at one time known as Rosemont, was renamed Rock 
Spring Farm in the mid- l 840s, in recognition of the spring that traveled across the site. The 
Town Springs, and the Rock Spring tributary, served Leesburg from the time of its platting in 
1757 until 1978. Throughout most of the 19111 century, Rock Spring Farm was owned and 
occupied by Henry Saunders, a long-time resident of Leesburg and veteran of the War of 1812. 
In 1899, the subdivided property became the home of Leesburg's prominent Harrison family. 
Under the tenure of the Harrison family, which has continued to own and occupy the property for 
over one hundred years, the imposing single-family dwelling was enlarged and high-style 
ornamentation of the then-popular Colonial Revival style applied. The dwelling, now enlarged to 
encompass the contemporaneous kitchen and meat house, presents a hall/parlor plan with an 
early 19tl! century wing symmetrically balanced by a 1906 wing on the north elevation. The five­
acre property includes a springhouse, dairy, silo, barn, smokehouse, and several sheds, all sited to 
view the spring and adjacent town of Leesburg. Despite the rapid 20

111 
century suburban growth 

that now surrounds the property, Rock Spring Farm retains sufficient integrity to convey its early 
19th century development history, stylistic 20111 century embellishments, and association with 
prominent citizens of Leesburg. 

Located within Leesburg's locally designated Old and Historic District, this property is 
recommended as eligible for nomination to the National Register of Historic Places under 
Criterion C for its significance_ as one of the few remaining early-19tl!-century estates edging the 
town of Leesburg. 
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IDSTORICAL BACKGROUND 

The history of Rock Spring Farm dates back to the founding of Leesburg, which was platted in 
1757 by Nicholas Minor. During this early period, the property included a major tributary to the 
Town Spring. As noted on the original plat, Town Spring ran across Lot 66, which was located 
at the southwest corner of Royal and King Streets. 1 Subsequent historic maps show the spring 
running to the south of Royal Street before taking a turn to the northwest, across the property 
known today as Rock Spring Farm. Supplying water to the town of Leesburg, Town Spring was 
known by various names, including "Federal Spring," "Poorhouse Spring," and also as "Rock 
Spring" through the late 18th and early 19th centuries.2 In 1818, when officials set about making 
improvements, " ... not only was the town able to pave its principle streets but also brought in, 
through wooden pipes, a much needed supply of water from Rock Spring.',3 The Town Springs, 
and the tributary that ran across the Rock Spring Farm property, served Leesburg from the time 
of its platting in 1757 until 1978.4 

Rock Spring Farm, which originally consisted of more than one hundred acres, was under the 
ownership, at least in part, of James Hereford in the latter part of the 18th century. A resident of 
Fairfax County, Hereford appears to have purchased the property prior to 1791, possibly even 
leasing it from John Thomas (d. 1793). Thomas's will, dated September 15, 1791, refers to a 
house near Leesburg that he rented from James Hereford.5 By August 1798, Hereford leased the 
property he had obtained to Patrick Cavan of Loudoun County.• The 999-year lease required 
Cavan to pay an annual rent of $100 a year. An agreement in the lease stipulated that should 
Cavan subdivide the property, which included the "Federal Spring," Hereford was to receive 
payment of $1.25 per acre. 

The chain of title is not complete for the period between 1798 and 1822, although subsequent 
deeds and early maps suggest the property was unimproved, and that Cavan had in fact 
subdivided it. Two of the purchasers of Hereford's subdivided property were Peter Benedum and 
Samuel M. Edwards, both of whom resided in Loudoun County. Peter and Catherine Benedum 
owned fifty acres, one rood, and forty-six poles over three subdivided parcels of land. Samuel 
M. and Ann Edwards had acquired two of the parcels, totaling nine acres and fifty poles. 
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Edwards then executed an agreement with the Mayor, Recorder, and Common Council of 
Leesburg concerning the acquisition of water from the "Poorhouse Spring." It expressly 
mentioned the ability of individuals to pass and return over Edwards' property in order to access 
the water source. 7 

By 1824, John Gill Watt of Loudoun County had purchased a large portion of what was to 
become known as Rock Spring Farm, buying the land in at least four separate deeds of 
conveyance beginning in 1822 from Benedum and Edwards, among others. In April 1826, Watt 
sold the majority of this land to Christopher Frye of Baltimore County, Maryland for $2,905. 
Frye continued to expand his Leesburg holdings, purchasing an additional 63 poles from William 
Carr in 1832 and thirty-six acres from the trustee of Robert Campbell in 1833. Following the 
death of Frye, Margaret Frye conveyed the sixty-four acre property to George Rust, Jr. of 
Harper's Ferry in Jefferson County (now West Virginia). This sale included slightly more than 
sixty-four acres, selling at $4,000. One year prior to the purchze of the Frye property, Rust had 
obtained forty-six acres from Charles and Hannah Binns for $1,163. Thus, by January 1836, 
George and Maria Rust owned one hundred eleven acres of the property known today as Rock 
Spring Farm. 

It was during the tenure of John Gill Watt that Rock Spring Farm was first improved by the 
construction of a two-and-a-half-story brick dwelling. The exact date of construction has not 
been definitively identified, however, the presence of a building is supported by the 1826 deed of 
conveyance between Watt and Frye for fifty-three acres at $2,905 and the 1836 deed between 
Margaret Frye and George Rust for sixty-four acres at $4,000. Further, the 1834 tax assessments 
charged Christopher Frye for buildings valued at $1,200, with a total levy of $2,065 including 
buildings and land. 8 The property included, based on the an:hitectural evidence, a masonry 
springhouse and freestanding kitchen with attached meat house. 

Unsupported claims suggest that portions of the existing dwelling were constructed around 1757, 
when the town of Leesburg was platted. No documentation bas been gathered to support this 
theory. Further, the architectural form, style, and materials of the extant main block and 
southeast wing do not support such an early date of constructioo. These elements do, however, 
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support a circa 1826 date of construction when coupled with primary documentation. 
Additionally, local tradition suggests the hall/parlor main block was erected first, and enlarged in 
the 1820s by the construction of the southeast wing. The $300 increase in the 1841 tax 
assessments could support the theory of an addition being added to the main block. However, 
there is no physical evidence to . support the building was constructed in these two phases. 
Rather, the present brick structure known as Rock Spring Farm, composed of a hall/parlor main 
block with one-room contemporaneous wing, was erected in the second quarter of the 19th 
century. 

Since its platting in 1757, the town of Leesburg continued to prosper, expanding its boundaries 
for a second time in 1814. A resident recalled in a letter that Leesburg was a thriving town 
between 1806 and 1811, consisting of one- and two-story brick or frame dwellings and 
commercial buildings tightly established along the original streets platted by Minor in 1757.9 

Thus, the subdivision of the property to become Rock Spring Farm was logical. Actually, the 
subdivision was a financial endeavor on the part of owner (Patrick Cavan) to benefit from the 
impending expansion of the town. However, the subdivided land was reunited under a single 
owner (John Gill Watt), who envisioned it as the site of a grand manor house surrounded by vast 
acres. The establishment of such estates bordering the growing town of Leesburg in the second 
quarter of the 19th century was not all that unusual. In fact, this settlement pattern was 
simultaneously being development on the eastern border of the town with the circa 1820 
construction of Dodona Manor and the Federal-style dwelling at 226 Edwards Ferry Road (1820-
1840). Both properties were historically located on large tracts of land set outside of the town of 
Leesburg. Such development continued in the third quarter of the 19th century with the 
construction of the Matthew Harrison House at 306 West Market Street in 1857.10 

Now totaling one hundred eleven acres, the property was conveyed by George and Maria Rust to 
George Rhodes for $5,163. Deed records indicate that Rhodes and his wife, Jane, referred to the 
property as "Rosemont." In addition to Rosemont, the Rhodes family owned nine parcels of land 
totaling 478 acres in Tuscarora; Virginia, and near Leesburg, with a complete assessed value of 
$15,547. 11 The assessed value of the improvements and the land remained initially unchanged 
during their ownership." In 1841, however, the assessed value of the buildings improving the 
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property was increased by $300 to $1,500. Although this increase may suggest an alteration to 
the building, it is more likely to have been a reflection of an improving economy after the Panic 
of 1837. In fact, despite a stagnant population, the town of Leesburg had grown sufficiently to 
warrant another expansion in 1858. 

In October 1844, George and Jane Rhodes sold a portion of the property then known as 
Rosemont to Henry Saunders, a retired officer of the United States Army. Saunders purchased 
sixty-six acres and the dwelling for $4,356. His purchase of the property, however, included a 
right-of-way provision for the Corporation of Leesburg and the local poorhouse that enabled 
public access of the spring for the collection of water." 

Major Henry Saunders (1788-1870ca.) was the sixth of eight sons born to Henry and Patience 
Saunders, long-time residents of Leesburg. The elder Sauncbs settled on a 416-acre parcel of 
land near Leesburg, which they leased in 1788 from Wilson Cary Seldon of Hampton, Virginia.14 

The younger Henry Saunders joined the United States Army on April 13, 1813 to participate in 
the War of 1812. He was commissioned in Washington, D.C. as a 3rd lieutenant and promoted to 
the rank of 2•d lieutenant just five months later. According to bis pension records (dated 1873), 
Saunders initially served as a recruiting officer in Leesburg and later in Dumfries, Virginia. 
Following his assignment in Dumfries, Saunders was transferred to the 20111 Regiment of Regular 
Infantry under Colonel Sparks in Mobile, Alabama. He was promoted to the rank of 1

51 

lieutenant in the summer of 1814. During the remainder of the War of 1812 (1812-1815), 
Saunders served in the regular infantry defending Fort Bower. Saunders remained in the army 
until 1844 and retired at the rank of major.15 

It was after his retirement that Henry and Delia Saunders purchased Rosemont from George and 
Jane Rhodes, subsequently renaming the property "Rock Spring Farm" in recognition of the 
tributary that ran across the land. During their ownership of the property, the assessed value of 
land increased by fifteen dollars per acre. The overall assessed value of the buildings, however, 
did not increase, remaining ai $1,500. The Map of Loudo1111 County, produced in 1853 by 
Yardley Taylor, supports the occupancy of Henry Saunders at Rock Spring Farm.16 Additionally, 
this is the first documented delineation of Rock Spring Fann on a historic map, which went 

··~· ,_.----.. """····- .. ' -·--, 
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beyond the boundaries of the expanding town limits to record surrounding development. 

Land records indicate that Henry Saunders was buying and selling property throughout Leesburg 
and surrounding areas of Loudoun County in the middle of the 19th century. This included at 
least sixty-five acres to the west of the Leesburg Courthouse, as well as lots along King Street, 
Market Street, Liberty Street, and Loudoun Street. Many of the building lots in Leesburg were 
improved by the construction of dwellings and commercial buildings, including a tavern 
occupied by Enos Wildman in 1824.17 By 1860, Saunders retained ownership of land believed to 
have been the property outside of Leesburg occupied by bis parents in 1788. Despite his many 
holdings in and around Leesburg, Henry Saunders continued to live at Rock Spring Farm at 329 
Loudoun Street, S.W. until his death in the 1870s.18 

Following Saunders' death, ownership of Rock Spring Fann was transferred to his son Henry 
Saunders, Jr., and Sarah F. Saunders, Rachel Ann Saunders, Mary M. Saunders, and Elizabeth 
Saunders. The heirs sold the property in August 1876 for $2,887 to Henry C. Gist. The deed 
indicates that the property, known as "Rock Spring Fann," included 66 acres bordering the 
Leesburg and Snickerville Turnpike. The occupancy of Gist was confirmed on the 1878 map of 
Leesburg, which also shows the footprint of the building.•• The property remained in the family 
until the 1890s when Henry C. Gist died. Ownership was contested following his death, 
resulting in the sale of the property to the Leesburg Rock Spring Park Company for $10,000 in 
1893. Edward Nichols, the commissioner in the chancery case of Gist vs. Gist, managed the 
transaction. 

Five years later, in July 1898, Alfred S. Gillett purchased the property for $8,000."' Gillett 
retained ownership for less than a year, transferring it in June 1899 to Florence M. Russell 
Harrison for $12,000. At that time, the property consisted of sixty-six-and-one-half acres with an 
adjoining one-and-a-half-acre tract. Harrison conveyed the property to her father, John B. 
Russell, Jr., in 1899. Following Russell's death, Rock Spring Farm was willed equally to his 
children, James L. Russell and Florence Russell Harrison. James Russell conveyed his portion of 
the property to Florence R. and Henry T. Harrison on Man:h 4, 1903. Oral history states that 
Florence R. and Henry T. Harrison received Rock Spring Farm as a wedding present, apparently 
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from her maternal grandparents, Alfred S. and Ellie Gratz Gillett.21 

Florence M. Russell Harrison of Hartford, Connecticut was married to Henry Tazewell Harrison 
(1871-1920) on June 2, 1898 in Wallingford, Pennsylvania. HenryT. Harrison, son of Walter J. 
Harrison and Nannie W. Powell, :was a member of the illustrious Harrison family of Virginia, 
which included signers of the Declaration of Independence (Benjamin Harrison V and Richard 
Henry Lee), governors, soldiers (General Walter Jones), and presidents of the United States of 
America (William Henry Harrison and Benjamin Harrison)." According to the 1900 census, 
Henry Harrison was a farmer who lived with his wife, Florence, and a 72-year-old African­
American servant named Harriett Jackson. Although not listed in the census of that year, 
Florence Harrison gave birth to a daughter, Lucy Gillett Harrison, on April 10, 1900. Listed as a 
farmer in both the 1900 and 1910 censuses, Henry T. Harrison was noted as the editor of the 
county paper in 1920.23 Harrison was well known in Leesburg as the owner and editor of The 
Loudoun Times. Publication of the paper, which was often noted for its editorial columns, began 
in 1916. Henry T. Harrison died on December IO, 1920 and is buried in Leesburg, Virginia.24 

A second phase of construction occurred during the Harrison family's initial ownership of the 
property known as Rock Spring Farm. This work included interior alterations to the original 
main block and contemporaneous wing, as well as the construction of a rear ell and northwest 
wing. On the interior, the renovations included infi)ljng of the fireplace opening in the southeast 
wing and removal of the mantel, overlaying of the original floors with narrow boards, and 
replacement of Federal-style mantels with Victorian-era mantels on the second floor. The 
additions to the building provided symmetry which was not original incorporated into the circa 
1826 design, and were united by the use of similar building materials, form, fenestration, and 
ornamentation. The circa 1906 alterations appear to have included the application of a full-width 
front porch that provided the Federal-era building with a Colonial Revival-style fa~ade. This 
work also included the construction of several outbuildings, including a dairy, barn, silo, tractor 
shed, and smokehouse. 

On July 7, 1906, Town and Country issued an article in the weekly magazine entitled "A Group 
of Virginia's Colonial Homes.""' The article highlighted three historic homes in the Leesburg 
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area, illustriously grouping Rock Spring Farm with Morven Park and Oatlands. Although little 
history of the house is discussed, the article indicates that a "modernization" of the building had 
taken place, with the visitation of plumbers, carpenters, and upholsterers. Additionally, a 
photograph of the house shows the unpaved drive running in front of the house, at a much closer 
location than the present drive. It .also appears as if the front porch was accessed by way of steps 
at the center, rather than from the sides, as is the current situation:• Further, the Harrisons 
themselves were praised with the statement, "There are scores of Harrisons all about Leesburg, 
and there have been for more than a century, but it is doubtful if any of them ever dispensed more 
typically southern hospitality than the host and hostess of Rock Spring Farm."27 This article was 
so well received by the town of Leesburg that it was also highlighted in a local newspaper, The 
Record. Noted as the home of Mr. and Mrs. Harry T. Harrison, the article stated that with the 
"well-shaded lawn, the house with its spacious Southern piazza, the carriage and horses in the 
driveway, will recall pleasant memories in the minds of Richmonders who recall the fine flavor 
of hospitality at Rock Spring Farm."" 

The house has remained in the Harrison family for over one hundred years, although through 
marriages the names of the owners have changed. Florence R. Harrison, the widow of Henry T. 
Harrison, deeded the property to their daughter, Lucy Gillett Harrison di '.l.erega, on September 6, 
1956. In 1978, the trustees and executors of the Last Will and Testament of Lucy di '.l.erega 
deeded the property to her daughter, Agnes di '.l.erega Cook, the current owner and occupant of 
Rock Spring Farm. Cook and her siblings own the adjacent Rock Spring pond, which is the 
result of the property's historic association with the Town Spring. During the tenure of Cook, 
the house was further enlarged by the construction of a hyphen. This final addition, completed in 
1980, connected the southern wing with the once-freestanding kitchen and attached meathouse. 
Additionally, the original straight-flight stair in the hall/parlor main block was replaced with a 
half-geometrical stair. The property was subdivided in the latter part of the 20th century, thereby 
surrounding the once vast estate with modem eclectic housing on narrow residential lots. Today, 
despite the subdivision of the property to the south and west, Rock Spring Farm remains intact, 
consisting of the circa 1826 main dwelling, springhouse and pond, attached kitchen with meat 
house, and other supporting outbuildings. 
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Chain of Title: 

April 27, 1978: Florence R. Ashbrook, Lucy Z. Rich, Agnes di Zerega Cook, Alfred L. B. di 
Zerega III. Trustees and Executors of the Last Will and Testament of Lucy di 
Zerega, and Virginia M. di Zerega, to Agnes di Zerega Cook 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 698 Folio 739 

September 6, 1956: Florence Russell Harrison to Lucy di Zerega 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 360 Folio 345 

March 4, 1903: James L. and Ola M. Russell (one-half interest) to Florence R. Harrison, wife of 
Henry T. Harrison 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 7X Folio 34 

Probate Date: John B. Russell, Jr. devised to James L. Russell and Florence Russell Harrison 
Unknown Will Records of Loudoun County (will written June 14, 1898) 

Liber 3R Folio 25 

July 11, 1899: Florence Russell Harrison and Henry T. Harrison to John B. Russell, Jr. 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 7R Folio 192 

June 30, 1899: Alfred S. and Ellie Gratz Gillett to Florence Russell Harrison 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 7R Folio 179 

July 13, 1898: The Leesburg Rock Spring Park Company to Alfred S. Gillett 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 7P Folio 454 
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December 4, 1893: 

August 30, 1876: 

Edward Nichols, Commissioner in Chancery Court Case Gist vs. Gist to the 
Leesburg Rock Spring Park Company 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 7H Folio 373 

Henry Saunders, Jr. and Sarah Saunders, Rachel Ann Saunders, Mary M. 
Saunders, and Elizabeth Saunders to Henry C. Gist 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 61 Folio 299 

October 23, 1844: George Rhodes and Jane Rhodes, his wife, to Henry Saunders 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 4U Folio 220 

December 15, 1837: George Rust, Jr. and Maria, his wife, to George Rhodes 
Composed of Two Parcels 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 41 Folio 272 

1" Parcel 
January 2, 1835: 

200 Parcel 
January 1, 1836: 

Charles Binns and Hannah, his wife, to George Rust, Jr. 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 4C Folio 302 

Margaret Frye, Executrix and Devisee of Christopher Frye, deceased, to 
George Rust, Jr. 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 4F Folio 59 

Part of 200 Parcel 
August 29, 1833: 

John McCabe, Trustee of Robert Campbell to Christopher Frye 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 4B Folio 48 
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Part of 2"" Parcel 
March 1, 1832: 

Part of 2"" Parcel 
April 13, 1826: 

William Carr to Christopher Frye 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 3X Folio 238 

John Gill Watt and wife to Christopher Frye 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 3M Folio 130 

September 24, 1823: John R. Anderson and Abbey, his wife, to John Gill 
Watt 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 3G Folio 144 

January l, 1824: Samuel M. Edwards and Ann, his wife to John Gill Watt 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 31 Folio 287 

May 4, 1822: Peter Benedum and Catharine, his wife to John Gill 
Watt 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 3F Folio 170 

June 11, 1822: Peter Benedum to John Gill Watt 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber 3E Folio 321 

August 10, 1798: James Hereford leases to Patrick Cavan 
Land Records of Loudoun County 
Liber Z Folio 472 
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End Notes 

1 C.0. Vandevanter, Leesburg, Virginia As Originally laid Out in 1757 - Reconstructed in 1926. Located at the 
Thomas Balch Library, Leesburg, Virginia. 
2 Land Records of Loudoun County, Liber Z Folio 472 (August 10, 1798), Liber 2S Folio 428 (June 5, 1815), and 
Liber 3G Folio 144 (September 24, 1823). Located in the File Room of the Loudoun County Courthouse, Leesburg, 
Virginia. 
3 Harrison Williams, Legends of Loudoun: An Account of the History and Homes of a Border County of Virginia's 
Northern Neck, (Richmond, VA: Garrett and Massie, Incorporated, 1938), p. 184. 
4 The names Town Spring and Rock Spring at times are intermittently used to refer to the same water source. 
Additionally, the name Rock Spring is used to refer to the tributary that runs across Rock Spring Farm. 
'Patricia B. Duncan, Loudoun County, Virginia, Will Book Abstracts (Westminster, MD: Willow Bend Books, 
2000), p. 249. 
6 Cavan was also seen in the deeds as Cavans. 
7 Land Records of Loudoun County, Liber 31 Folio 287 (January I, 1824). Located in the File Room of the Loudoun 
County Courthouse, Leesburg, Virginia. 
8 1834 Tax Records, Loudoun County, Virginia. Located at the Thomas Balch Library in Leesburg, Virginia. 
9 "History and Culture." Located on the Internet at www.leesburgva.com/quality_of_life/history_culture.cfm on 
April 10, 2000, p. 2. 
IO Dodona Manor was recognized as a National Historic Landmark for its 20'" century association with George C. 
Marshall. All three of the properties noted in this text are located within the local Leesburg Old and Historic District 
and the amended Leesburg National Register Historic District. , 
11 1841 Tax Records, Loudoun County, Virginia. Located at the Thomas Balch Library in Leesburg, Virginia. 
12 

1838 Tax Records, Loudoun County, Virginia. Located at the Thomas Balch Library in Leesburg, Virginia. 
13 Land Records of Loudoun County, Liber 4U Folio 220 (October 23, 1844). Located in the File Room of the 
Loudoun County Courthouse, Leesburg, Virginia. 
14 Saunders Family History File. Charles Blair Tavenner Collection. Located at the Thomas Balch Library in 
Leesburg, Virginia. 
15 War of 1812 Pension Records. Record Number 28833. Located at the National Archives in Washington, DC. 
16 Yardley Taylor, Map of Loudoun County, Virginia (Philadelphia, PA: Thomas Reynolds & R.P. Smith, Publishers, 
1853). 
17 Land Records of Loudoun County, Liber 3G Folio 504 (January 2, 1824). Located in the File Room of the 
Loudoun County Courthouse, Leesburg, Virginia. 
18 Land Records of Loudoun County, Liber 61 Folio 299 (August 30, 1876). Located in the File Room of the 
Loudoun County Courthouse, Leesburg, Virginia. 
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19 Gray's New Map of Leesburg (Philadelphia, PA: O.W. Gray & Son, 1878). 
20 Land Records of Loudoun County, Liber 7P Folio 454 (July 13, 1898). Located in the File Room of the Loudoun 
County Courthouse, Leesburg, Virginia. 
21 Agnes di 2.erega Cook, interview with Laura V. Trieschmann and Robin J. Weidlicb, February 2000. Agnes di 
2.erega Cook is the present owner/occupant of Rock Spring Farm and a descendent of Florence R. Harrison. 
22 Henry Tazewell Harrison, "A Brief History of the first Harrison of Virginia, Descendants of Cuthbert Harrison, 
Esquire Of Anacaster, England from A.O. 1600 to A.O. 1915," April 2, 1915. Located in the Thomas Balch Library, 
Leesburg, Virginia. 
23 ''The Late H.T. Harrison," The Loudoun Times (1920). Located in the Harrison Family Vertical File at the 
Thomas Balch Library, Leesburg, Virginia. 
24 ''The Late H.T. Harrison." 
25 Burr Mcintosh, "A Group of Virginia's Colonial Homes," Town & Country 61 (July 7, 1906), pp. 9-13. 
26 McIntosh, p. 15 
r, McIntosh, p. 13. 
28 "Virginia Colonial Homes," The Record (July 27, 1906). 
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10. Geographical Data 

Verbal Boundary Description 

Rock Spring Farm is located at 329 Loudoun Street, S.W. in Leesburg, Loudoun County, 
Virginia. Set to the west of the Leesburg Historic District (expanded 2001), Rock Spring 
Fann is identified as Parcel 47 on Tax Map 48 and the outbuildings are situated on 
Section 18, Parcel 2 of the same map. The property is situated on the south side of 
Loudoun Street. Now encompassing five-and-a-half acres, Rock Spring Farm also 
includes a springhouse, smokehouse, barn, dairy, silo, stable, and tractor shed. Rock 
Spring Farm is located in the Old and Historic Local District of the Town of Leesburg. 

Boundary Justification 

Rock Spring Farm is located on five-and-a-half acres to the west of the central core of the 
town of Leesburg. Situated on a fraction of the original 111-acre tract, it remains a rural 
parcel with rolling hills and formal gardens. Loudoun Street, which connects the property to 
the adjacent National Register Leesburg Historic District (expanded 2001), runs on a 
diagonal to the northeast of the house. Although the dwelling and most of the outbuildings 
are set back from the road, the springhouse is located to the immediate south of the roadway. 
A gravel drive leads past the springhouse and encircles the main dwelling and smokehouse, 
with the remaining outbuildings lying to the southwest of the house. 

Loudoun Street bounds the irregularly shaped lot to the north. To the east of the property is 
a large open lot on which lie a pond and a shed. This tract of land is separated from Rock 
Spring Farm by the gravel driveway, which forms a visual boundary. Although historically 
associated with Rock Spring Farm, this parcel has been subdivided and is jointly owned by 
the current owner of Rock Spring Farm, Mrs. Agnes di 2.erega Cook, and her siblings. 
Therefore, it is not included ·as part of the nomination. The remaining land to the south and 
west of Rock Spring Farm was subdivided during the last quarter of the 20tll century. It 
currently features townhouses and single-family dwellings. Like the driveway along the 
eastern boundary, the new construction and mature foliage forms a clear visual boundary to 
the south and west. 
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All photographs are of: 

ROCK SPRING FARM 
329 Loudoun Street, S.W. 

Leesburg, Virginia 
VDHR File Number: 253-5046 

E.H.T. Traceries, Inc., photographer 

All negatives are stored with the Department of Historic Resources: 

DATE: May2001 
VIEW OF: Northeast Elevation, View 
looking Northwest 
NEG. NO.: 19309 
PHOTO: 1 of 11 

DATE: May2001 
VIEW OF: Southwest Elevation, View 
looking northeast 
NEG. NO.: 19309 
PHOTO: 2 of 11 

DATE: May2001 
VIEW OF: South Comer, View looking 
North 
NEG. NO.: 19309 
PHOTO: 3 of 11 

DATE: May 2001 
VIEW OF: Dining Room, View looking 
East 
NEG. NO.: 19311 
PHOTO: 4 of 11 

DATE: May2001 
VIEW OF: Hall, View looking northeast 
NEG. NO.: 19311 
PHOTO: 5 of 11 

DATE: May 2001 
VIEW OF: Parlor, View looking East 
NEG. NO.: 19311 
PHOTO: 6 of 11 
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DATE: May 2001 
VIEW OF: Original Kitchen, View looking 
South 
NEG. NO.: 19311 
PHOTO: 7 of 11 

DATE: May2001 
VIEW OF: Springhouse, View looking West 
NEG. NO.: 19311 
PHOTO: 8 of 11 

DATE: May 2001 
VIEW OF: Smokehouse, View looking 
North 
NEG. NO.: 19309 
PHOTO: 9 of 11 

DA TE: May 2001 
VIEW OF: Barn and Silo, View looking 
Northwest 
NEG. NO.: 19309 
PHOTO: 10 of 11 

DATE: May2001 
VIEW OF: Dairy, View looking West 
NEG. NO.: 19309 
PHOTO: 11 of 11 
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I 

....... u ... u,................ Rock Spring Farm 

Local Historic District 

j 

National Register District (amended boundary) 

' 
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253-5046 
Rock Spring Farm 

329 Loudoun Street, S.W. 
Leesburg, Virginia 

Numbers wilb anows correspond lo exterior photographic views. 
Buildings marked wilb N/C are non-contributing resom:ces. All other resources 
are contributing lo lbe period of significauce. 

Not drawn to scale. 
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